STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Greenville County

Honorable G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JAN - 3 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES ALLEN JOHNSON,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000072

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

1.

Did the Court of Appeals err in holding an issue was raised differently on appeal than at trial, and, therefore, not preserved where the trial judge ruled without hearing or taking any argument from the parties and the issue raised on appeal was the legal issue obviously raised by the evidence at the pre-trial Jackson v. Denno hearing?

2.

Did the Court of Appeals err in upholding the admission of a statement spawned from a two-phase interrogation of a mentally retarded suspect who did not receive Miranda warnings until after he made incriminating statements, violating state law, the Fifth Amendment, Miranda, and Missouri v. Seibert?

STATEMENT

On September 13, 2011, a Greenville County grand jury indicted petitioner for homicide by child abuse. On June 3, 2013, petitioner was tried before the Honorable G. Edward Welmaker and a jury. R. 1. Kris Hodge represented the State. R. 1. Dorothy Manigault represented petitioner. R. 1. The jury convicted petitioner. R. 588, ll. 4 – 10. Judge Welmaker sentenced appellant to sixty-two years' imprisonment. R. 595, l. 23 – 596, l. 1.

On June 9, 2015, a panel of the Court of Appeals consisting of Judges Short, Lockemy, and McDonald heard oral argument on petitioner's appeal. App. 1-2. On July 29, 2015, the court issued an unpublished *per curiam* opinion affirming petitioner's conviction. App. 1-2. On December 16, 2015, the Court of Appeals denied rehearing. App. 14. On December 2, 2016, this Court granted certiorari and this brief of petitioner follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court of Appeals erred in holding an issue was raised differently on appeal than at trial, and, therefore, not preserved where the trial judge ruled without hearing or taking any argument from the parties and the issue raised on appeal was the legal issue obviously raised by the evidence at the pre-trial *Jackson v. Denno*¹ hearing.

The trial court held a pre-trial Denno hearing to determine whether petitioner's statements would be admitted. The State presented evidence regarding the voluntariness of petitioner's statements, including whether Miranda warnings were given and the timing of the warnings. The State asked multiple questions about petitioner's custody status. The State asked questions about whether petitioner was intoxicated. When the State completed its evidence, petitioner testified and his brother testified. The trial judge ruled after "weighing all the testimony" that petitioner's "statement was freely and voluntarily given, all the statements. And they will be admissible." R. 85, ll. 18 – 24. Petitioner contemporaneously objected to the admission of his statements. R. 360, ll. 16 – 21. R. 366, ll. 17 – 23. R. 373, ll. 14 – 20. Despite the (1) pre-trial hearing, (2) presentation of evidence by both sides regarding Miranda, (3) presentation of evidence regarding petitioner's mental status by both sides, (4) a ruling by the trial judge, and (5) contemporaneous objections by defense counsel, the Court of Appeals accepted the State's boiler-plate argument that the issue of the voluntariness of petitioner's statements was unpreserved. App. 2.

The State's case against petitioner rested primarily on petitioner's incriminating statement. Before the Denno hearing, the trial judge heard Dr. Richard Frierson's testimony

¹ Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

during a competency hearing that petitioner, James Allen Johnson (“Johnson”), is mentally retarded. R. 12, ll. 8 – 18. Johnson’s IQ is below seventy and Dr. Frierson found that Johnson’s ability to even use the word “prosecute” was “pretty surprising given his intellectual functioning.” R. 12, ll. 8 – 18. After Judge Welmaker ruled that Johnson was competent to stand trial, he stated, “if we could move to the *Jackson versus Denno* now?” R. 18, ll. 10 – 12. The solicitor told the court that the defendant made four statements and gave the identity of the officer who would testify about the first statement given. R. 18, ll. 13 – 17. The trial judge stated, “Come around and be sworn, please sir,” and the officer’s testimony began. R. 18, ll. 18 – 24.

The State called three police officers as witnesses during the Denno hearing and then told the court that it had presented all of the statements it was seeking to introduce. R. 65, ll. 8 – 9. The trial judge asked, “Anything from the Defense?” and defense counsel called Johnson to the stand. R. 66, ll. 10 – 12. After Johnson’s testimony, the court asked if the defense had any other witnesses and counsel replied that she had a short witness (petitioner’s brother). R. 79, ll. 18 – 22. The court asked, “That’ll be your last witness?” to which counsel replied, “Yes, sir.” R. 79, ll. 23 – 24.

When petitioner’s brother’s testimony was over, defense counsel informed the court that she had no other witnesses. R. 85, ll. 4 – 5. Judge Welmaker asked if the State had anything in reply and the solicitor said she did not. R. 85, ll. 6 – 8. The court then stated it would “take a belated lunch break” and told the attorneys when to return. R. 85, ll. 9 – 15. The trial judge also told the attorneys he would “weigh my notes” and look at Dr. Frierson’s report on competency “and be ready to start back then.” R. 85, ll. 9 – 15.

When court resumed, Judge Welmaker immediately ruled on the Denno issue. R. 85, l. 18 – 86, l. 4. Without pausing, the trial judge then ruled on the competency issue. R. 86, ll. 5 – 12. After completing his ruling on competency, Judge Welmaker stated, “All right. Any other matters

we need to take care of before our jury comes in?” R. 86, ll. 13 – 14. The solicitor responded that she wanted to test her tape for a 911 call and, after a brief colloquy about the tape, Judge Welmaker had the bailiff bring the jury into the courtroom. R. 86, l. 15 – 87, l. 7. The court did not ask for argument from defense counsel (or the solicitor) on the Denno issue. R. 86, l. 13, 87, l. 7.

The parenthetical in the Court of Appeals’ citation to State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005) stated “holding an issue is not preserved for appeal where one ground is raised below and another ground is raised on appeal.” App. 2. This ruling begs the question of what issue, other than the voluntariness of appellant’s statements under “state law, the Fifth Amendment, Miranda,² and Missouri v. Siebert,³” was raised during the Denno hearing? Brief of Appellant at 3 (stating issue on appeal).

The proscription against raising a different argument on appeal from the argument below does not apply to Johnson’s case. In the Freiburger appeal, appellant challenged the admission of a gun based on defects in the chain of custody. Freiburger at 134, 620 S.E.2d at 741. Below, appellant only raised a Fourth Amendment objection to the admission of the gun as part of “an impermissible pat-down search.” Id. A chain of custody issue is **categorically different** than a Fourth Amendment challenge and this Court applied its error preservation rules because of the difference in arguments. Had petitioner’s appellate argument raised an issue not involving the voluntariness of the statement or different from the evidence presented during the hearing, the rule cited by the Court of Appeals would be correct. For example, had the appellate issue been that the statements were forgeries, the issue would have been outside of the scope of the evidence presented at the hearing and the trial judge’s ruling.

² Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

³ Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600 (2004).

The question of compliance with Miranda was raised, not only by the evidence presented at the hearing, but as required by the Fifth Amendment and state law. Numerous South Carolina cases hold that the State must prove compliance with Miranda. “In order to secure the admission of a defendant’s statement, the State must affirmatively show the statement was voluntary *and* taken in compliance with Miranda.” State v. Middleton, 288 S.C. 21, 25, 339 S.E.2d 692, 694 (1986) (emphasis in original). “If a defendant was advised of his Miranda rights, but nevertheless chose to make a statement, the ‘burden is on the State to prove by a *preponderance of the evidence* that his rights were voluntarily waived.’” State v. Franklin, 299 S.C. 133, 137-38, 382 S.E.2d 911, 913-914 (1989) (emphasis in original) quoting State v. Washington, 296 S.C. 54, 370 S.E.2d 611 (1988).

Middleton was a death penalty case with horrific facts. Middleton at 23, 339 S.E.2d at 692-93. The defense argued that “the trial judge erred in admitting his confession without having first found the confession had been taken in compliance with the requirements of Miranda.” Id. at 25, 339 S.E.2d at 694. The trial court held a Denno hearing and held the statement was voluntary. Id. The State contended that the trial judge’s finding “contained an implicit recognition that Miranda had been complied with.” Id. The Court held that “an affirmative finding under Miranda was also required.” Id. The Middleton Court held it was the State’s burden to ensure the trial court made an affirmative finding of compliance with Miranda. Id.

If the Court of Appeals’ ruling in this case had been applied in Middleton, the issue regarding Miranda would have been held unpreserved. Under the Court of Appeals’ reasoning, the general finding by the trial judge of voluntariness and admissibility would not have been sufficient to raise Miranda on appeal. It would have been the defendant’s responsibility, not the State’s, to procure affirmative findings regarding Miranda. This Court recognized in Middleton that the State bears the burden of proving the admissibility of a defendant’s statements, which necessarily

implicates Miranda. The reasoning of this Court in Middleton demonstrates that petitioner can raise issues regarding the timing of Miranda warnings despite the trial judge's general ruling. Middleton also shows that compliance with Miranda (which since 2004 has included Siebert) is inherent in every Denno hearing and ruling by the trial court.

Also demonstrating the error in the Court of Appeals' reasoning is State v. Callahan, 263 S.C. 35, 208 S.E.2d 284 (1974). Callahan, decided in 1974, confronted a Siebert issue thirty years before Siebert and is very similar to petitioner's case. Just like petitioner, Callahan was mentally retarded, with an IQ in the 55 to 65 range. Callahan at 39-40, 208 S.E.2d at 285. A psychiatrist testified that Callahan would have problems thinking when upset and under even mild stress. Id.

Callahan gave two statements to the police, one on Saturday at which the giving of Miranda warnings was disputed. Id. When Callahan's attorney arrived on Sunday, it was clear that Callahan had already been interrogated and admitted crimes. Id. The trial judge held a "full factual hearing in the absence of the jury." Id. at 43, 208 S.E.2d at 287. The judge's ruling that the defendant's confession was free and voluntary "was general in nature." Id. This Court held that the "ultimate issue was the voluntariness of the Sunday confession." Id. This Court treated the issue like a Siebert issue, asking whether the "Sunday confession was tainted." Id. Ultimately, the Court held that the trial judge's general ruling required a remand. Id. at 43-44, 208 S.E.2d at 287-88. Under the State and the Court of Appeals' reasoning in this case, the issue in Callahan of the tainted confession would be held unpreserved and there would have been no need for a remand. But this Court's holding in Callahan demonstrates that the issue of a confession tainted by the failure to properly give Miranda warnings is preserved even when the trial judge only makes a general ruling such as was made in this case.

Callahan and Middleton show that confessions tainted by the improper giving of Miranda warnings are part and parcel of a ruling on the voluntariness of a confession. Siebert is a part of Miranda. The facts of petitioner's case showed that a mentally retarded, intoxicated suspect did not receive Miranda warnings until after he was in custody and after incriminating himself. Judge Welmaker's general ruling on voluntariness is no different than the rulings in Callahan and Middleton and Siebert is necessarily a part of that ruling.

Finally, this Court should not allow a ruling to stand that creates an incentive for trial judges to avoid appellate review by declining to take argument. Rule 18(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure are clear: "Counsel shall not attempt to further argue any matter after he has been heard and the ruling of the court has been pronounced." Rule 18(a), SCRCrimP. Rule 18(b) states, "No argument shall be made on objections to admissibility of evidence or conduct of trial unless specifically requested by the court." Rule 18(b), SCRCrimP. Judge Welmaker ruled and did not ask for argument. The legal issues on appeal are clear from the facts presented at the hearing. The factual record is fully developed and the merits of the legal issue are ripe for decision on appeal. The Court of Appeals' preservation ruling would only delay a decision on this legal issue until PCR, which is an inefficient use of judicial resources. The Court of Appeals erred in holding this issue unpreserved.

2.

The Court of Appeals erred in upholding the admission of a statement spawned from a two-phase interrogation of a mentally retarded suspect who did not receive *Miranda* warnings until after he made incriminating statements, violating state law, the Fifth Amendment, *Miranda*, and *Missouri v. Seibert*.

The police interrogated the mentally retarded Johnson using, as the solicitor candidly identified it, the "two phase" interrogation tactic condemned by the United States Supreme Court in

Seibert and this Court in State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 688 S.E.2d 838 (2010).⁴ Petitioner is mentally retarded. R. 12, ll. 8 – 18. The State prosecuted him for the death of his girlfriend’s child (“Minor”). At the time of Minor’s injuries, both Johnson and his girlfriend, Georgia Ann Sprouse (“Sprouse”) were at home with Minor. R. 485, ll. 1 – 5. Both Johnson and Sprouse initially told police that Johnson was in the bathroom when Minor choked on tea and stopped breathing. R. 485, ll. 6 – 20. R. 156, l. 24 – 157, l. 10.

After the pathologist ruled Minor’s death a homicide, Sprouse, who had a long history with DSS, changed her story to incriminate Johnson. R. 456, ll. 3 – 12. R. 419, ll. 10 -18. R. 305, ll. 5 – 14. The police brought Johnson to the station and three officers questioned him for an indeterminate amount of time, no shorter than one and a half hours, and possibly for as long as four or five hours. R. 374, ll. 15 – 25. R. 441, ll. 10 – 13. R. 550, l. 23 – 551, l. 3. Johnson then admitted suffocating the child. R. 427, l. 20 – 428, l. 3. Only after this admission, and for the first time, the police read Johnson his Miranda warnings. R. 428, ll. 7 – 12. They continued questioning him, using the information they had already obtained to draft a written statement for Johnson to sign. R. 431, ll. 4 – 15. Johnson misspelled his own name on the statement. R. 599 - 600. He and his brother testified that he was heavily intoxicated that day. R. 68, ll. 2 – 15. R. 81, l. 19 – 82, l. 1. Johnson said he did not remember giving the statement. R. 67, ll. 11 – 13.

Relevant Facts

Petitioner Johnson⁵ was twenty-eight years old at the time of trial. R. 477, ll. 21 – 22. The court held a Blair hearing before the trial began regarding Johnson’s mental competency. Johnson

⁴ The solicitor asked one of the police officers present at the interrogation, “Did you hear the Defendant telling Investigator Miller basically what happened in this case? **Two phases?** I guess, **two phases?** Did you hear him give a statement?” R. 554, l. 24 – 555, l. 1 (emphasis added). The officer responded, “Yeah. I heard **both phases.**” R. 555, l. 2 (emphasis added).

⁵ Some of the witnesses refer to Johnson by the nickname, “Parker.” R. 188, ll. 2 – 7.

is mentally retarded and his IQ is below seventy. R. 12, ll. 8 – 18. Dr. Frierson testified that Johnson’s retardation prevented him from maintaining competitive employment and speculated that “he might be able to go pick up trash somewhere, but he’s not going to be able to support himself with work.” R. 15, ll. 11 – 22. Johnson took two medications for major depression. R. 11, ll. 10 – 15. Johnson has never had a driver’s license. R. 484, ll. 18 – 21. Dr. Frierson opined Johnson was competent to stand trial.

Co-defendant Sprouse was Minor’s mother. R. 247, ll. 6 – 10. She was thirty-two years old at the time of trial. R. 246, ll. 10 – 12. She had three children by three different fathers. R. 246, l. 22 – 247, l. 23. She was charged in this case with homicide by child abuse, aiding and abetting, and accessory after the fact.⁶ R. 246, ll. 19 – 21. From her testimony, it was apparent that Sprouse had a long history with DSS, with “at least three different” investigations. R. 305, ll. 5 – 14. Minor was taken from Sprouse immediately when Minor was born because she tested positive for marijuana. R. 251, ll. 4 – 21. Sprouse also testified that “every time that I’ve had my kids took” and “[e]ach time that I’ve had a DSS case” it involved her drug addiction. R. 253, ll. 5 – 21. Sprouse eventually got Minor and her other daughter back after spending nine months at a drug rehabilitation facility. R. 252, ll. 1 – 17.

Sprouse met Johnson through her sister. R. 256, l. 17 – 18. The same day she met Johnson, she invited him to move in with her and they began a romantic relationship. R. 257, ll. 1 – 13. Sprouse depended upon government assistance and child support. R. 258, l. 23 – 259, l. 4. She was abusing drugs before she met Johnson. R. 257, ll. 22 – 24. She knew that Johnson received a disability check because of his mental retardation. R. 259, ll. 5 – 7. R. 481, ll. 10 – 14. Because of

⁶ The Department of Corrections website reflects that Sprouse received a fourteen-year sentence shortly after Johnson’s trial ended.

Johnson's retardation, he had to have a payee for his disability payments. R. 481, ll. 10 – 14.

Johnson's brother testified that Johnson is not allowed to live by himself. R. 84, ll. 5 – 7.

At the end of April 2011, Johnson, Sprouse, and Sprouse's daughters moved in with Sprouse's friend, Crystal Inman ("Inman"). R. 524, ll. 3 – 23. Inman was married and had three children. R. 173, ll. 15 – 174, l. 8. Inman and Sprouse had been "childhood friends forever." R. 175, ll. 5 – 9. Inman never noticed Sprouse or Johnson hitting the children other than "a pop on the hand and put in a corner." R. 189, ll. 8 – 18.

May 25, 2011: Minor is Taken to the Hospital

On the afternoon of May 25, 2011, Inman asked Sprouse to ride with her to pick up her children from school, but Sprouse declined because she "was too high and [she] was tired." R. 269, ll. 3 – 11. Sprouse and Johnson were home alone with Minor and Sprouse's other daughter ("Sister"). R. 485, ll. 1 – 5. Minor was approximately one-and-a-half years old and Sister was approximately two-and-a-half years old. R. 247, ll. 6 – 10.

Sprouse gave several different versions of what happened to Minor that afternoon, but she told the first police officer who arrived at the scene that Minor "was drinking tea and she started choking and she threw up." R. 156, l. 24 – 157, l. 10. The police found a spot on the rug that they suspected was vomit. R. 392, l. 19 – 393, l. 4. Johnson told the same police officer, "I don't know what happened. I was in the bathroom." R. 157, ll. 5 – 7. Johnson was the one who called 911. R. 490, ll. 7 – 12.

Johnson testified that the children were playing in the living room when he went to the bathroom. R. 485, ll. 6 – 20. While he was in the bathroom, Sprouse yelled to him that Minor was not breathing. R. 485, ll. 6 – 20. When Johnson got to the living room, he saw that Minor was "already discolored." R. 485, ll. 6 – 20. Sprouse, Johnson, and Inman had been smoking marijuana

that morning and Sprouse originally wanted to attempt to revive Minor themselves because she was afraid that if they called 911, the authorities would find the marijuana and she would lose her children. R. 488, l. 16 – 490, l. 12. Johnson called 911 while Sprouse hid the marijuana. R. 488, ll. 16 – 20. A firefighter was the first to arrive and saw Sprouse performing chest compressions and Johnson “doing mouth-to-mouth rescue breathing on the child.” R. 104, ll. 10 – 15. Emergency personnel took Minor to the hospital. R. 114, ll. 6 – 16.

The Medical Evidence

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