RECEIVED

FEB 03 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenville County
G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JAMES ALLEN JOHNSON,

Petitioner.

Appellate Case No. 2016-000072

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. ROBERT BOLCHOZ
Chief Deputy Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals correctly found the question of whether Petitioner's statement was the result of a two-phase interrogation in violation of *Miranda v. Arizona* and *Missouri v. Seibert* was not raised to and ruled upon by the trial court and therefore was not preserved for review.

Petitioner contends the trial judge erred in admitting his incriminating statements to officers at the law enforcement center. Petitioner asserts that since Petitioner did not receive Miranda warnings until after he made incriminating statements, his statement was obtained as part of a two-phase interrogation in violation of *Miranda* and *Missouri v. Seibert*. First, Petitioner's argument was not raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge and is therefore not preserved for appellate review. Second, Petitioner was not in custody at the time he made the incriminating statements, nor was Petitioner subjected to an interrogation. The trial judge committed no error in admitting Petitioner's statements. Petitioner's conviction should be affirmed.

Petitioner failed to preserve his argument for appellate review. Regarding admissibility of statements, Petitioner simply stated that a motion pursuant to *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368, 84 S. Ct. 1774, 12 L. Ed. 2d 908 (1964), needed to be heard. Witnesses were called to testify as to the circumstances surrounding Petitioner's various statements:

- Petitioner's unsolicited statement to Deputy Mathias at the home on May 25.
- Petitioner's verbal statement to Investigator Autrey at the hospital on May 25.
- Petitioner's written statement taken the evening of May 25 by Investigator Miller.
- Petitioner's statements taken on June 2.

(R. pp. 18-86.) The cross-examination and evidence Petitioner presented at this hearing focused on his alleged gross intoxication on June 2. (R. p. 61; pp. 66-85.) After the State and Petitioner

presented witnesses, no arguments were made. The trial court found:

All right. I've reviewed my notes and looked at the evidence on the *Jackson*, 378 U.S. 368 hearing. Obviously at this stage it's based upon a preponderance of the evidence. In weighing all the testimony, what I've heard, I find the statement was freely and voluntarily given, all the statements. And they will be admissible. Of course, I'll instruct the jury that they make the ultimate decision as to the value of any statements that are given. But I believe that weighing all the evidence I've heard that they were freely and voluntarily made by Mr. Johnson in the course of the investigation by the officers.

(R. pp. 85-86.) Again, no arguments or exceptions were made following this pronouncement.

When the incriminating portions of the June 2 statements were admitted at trial, Petitioner's only objections were:

- "I would take this opportunity at this point to renew my objection ---" (R. p. 360, lines 18-19.) (Objection made when Autrey began relating the incriminating portion of Petitioner's oral statement on June 2.)
- "Subject to my previous objections in the *Jackson Denno* hearing." (R. p. 366, lines 19-20.) (Objection made when written statement taken June 2 was offered.)

Neither of these objections clarified the matter.

Petitioner failed to articulate with any specificity the nature of his objection to the admission of the statement at trial; therefore Petitioner's argument is not preserved for appellate review. If any argument could be inferred from the testimony presented at the *Jackson* hearing, it would seem to be that the incriminating portion of his June 2 statement was involuntary because he was grossly intoxicated. The trial court cannot be left to guess what argument that a defendant is making; neither can a defendant claim to have raised every foreseeable argument regarding admissibility of statements by virtue of a request for a *Jackson* hearing. While a party need not use the exact name of

a legal doctrine in the trial court in order to preserve it for appellate review, it must be clear that an argument has been made on such ground. *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691 (2003). Here, Petitioner made no argument as to the basis for suppression of his statements. Moreover, the objections that were offered when the evidence was introduced provided no specific grounds, only referring nebulously back to the *Jackson* hearing. Finally, no objection was made when Miller began relating the incriminating verbal portion of the June 2 statement. (R. p. 427-432.)

The ground raised in support of a claim of error on appeal must be the same ground offered in support of the objection at trial. *State v. Smith*, 337 S.C. 27, 34, 522 S.E.2d 598, 601 (1999); *State v. Russell*, 345 S.C. 128, 546 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 2001). A party cannot argue one ground below then argue another on appeal. *State v. Hudgins*, 319 S.C. 233, 237, 460 S.E.2d 388, 390-391 (1995) overruled by *State v. Collins*, 329 S.C. 23, 495 S.E.2d 202 (1998). Trial counsel failed to put on the record that Petitioner's statements were inadmissible due to a violation of *Miranda* or *Seibert*. The trial court's general ruling clearly did not address this argument. *State v. Clute*, 324 S.C. 584, 480 S.E.2d 85 (Ct. App. 1996) overruled by *State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000) (issue not preserved where Petitioner failed to request a specific ruling).

For all these reasons, the argument advanced on appeal was not raised and ruled on below and therefore was not preserved for review by this court. *State v. Freiburger*, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005). The Court of Appeals' reliance on *Freiburger* for this proposition was entirely on point.

II. The Court of Appeals properly found the trial judge did not abuse his discretion when he admitted a voluntary confession where Petitioner was not subjected to custodial interrogation prior to his incriminating statement, and *Miranda* rights were promptly given as soon as incriminating information was volunteered.

Even if this Court finds that the issue of whether Petitioner's statements were admitted in violation of *Miranda* or *Seibert* to be preserved, evidence would support a finding of admissibility by the trial court. Petitioner was not in custody nor were the statements made as a result of an interrogation. Petitioner's statements were made voluntarily to police as part of their investigation, Petitioner was under no obligation to speak with the police, and his freedom of action was not restrained. Under the totality of the circumstances, a reasonable person in Petitioner's position would believe he was free to leave at any time. Therefore, Petitioner was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes, and the officers were allowed to speak with him without reading him his constitutional rights. *Seibert* mandates that officers may not conduct a custodial interrogation before providing *Miranda* warnings and then re-elicit the same information after providing warnings. *Seibert* does not require police to anticipate when, during the course of a non-custodial interview, the interviewee may suddenly change course and blurt something incriminating.

In criminal cases, appellate courts suit to review errors of law only. *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). The reviewing court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Quattlebaum*, 338 S.C. 441, 452, 527 S.E.2d 105, 111 (2000). The appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but instead, simply determines whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001) A.E.2d 827, 829 (2001).

As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, the admission or exclusion of evidence rests on the sound discretion of the trial judge and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. Gaster*, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the

conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). “A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.” *State v. Kelley*, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995); *see also State v. Navy*, 386 S.C. 294, 301, 688 S.E.2d 838, 841 (2010) (stating appellate courts must uphold the trial court’s findings regarding whether a defendant was in custody when statements were made if the trial judge’s ruling is supported by the record).

Under *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966), prior to custodial interrogation, a suspect must be warned he has a right to remain silent, any of his statements may be used against him, and he has a right to an attorney. However, these requirements only apply to situations involving custodial interrogation and were not intended to interfere with the traditional function of law enforcement officers in investigating crimes. *Id.* at 477. “*Miranda* warnings are required for official interrogations only when a suspect ‘has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way.’” *State v. Easler*, 327 S.C. 121, 127, 489 S.E.2d 617, 621 (1997)(quoting *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 444). Thus, custodial interrogations are made up of two key components- custody and interrogation. *State v. Whitner*, 380 S.C. 513, 518, 670 S.E.2d 655, 658 (Ct. App. 2008).

“To determine whether a suspect is in custody, the trial court must examine the totality of the circumstances, which include factors such as the place, purpose, and length of interrogation, as well as whether the suspect was free to leave the place of questioning.” *State v. Evans*, 354 S.C. 579, 583, 582 S.E.2d 407, 410 (2003). The appropriate inquiry involves objectively viewing the circumstances to determine whether a reasonable person in the suspect’s position would have understood himself to

be in custody. *Easler*, 327 S.C. at 128.

Petitioner was also not subjected to the “interrogation” prong of the custodial interrogation. “Interrogation can be either express questioning or its functional equivalent and includes words or actions on the part of the police (other than those normally attendant to arrest and custody) the police should know are reasonably likely to illicit an incriminating response.” *Id.*; see *Rhode Island v. Innis*, 446 U.S. 291 (1980)(“[T]he term ‘interrogation’ under *Miranda* refers not only to express questioning, but also to any words or actions on the part of the police . . . that the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response.”) The requirement for *Miranda* warnings does not apply to voluntary statements which are not the product of interrogation. *State v. Sprouse*, 325 S.C. 275, 282, 478 S.E.2d 871, 875 (Ct. App. 1996). “Volunteered statements of any kind are not barred by the Fifth Amendment[.]” *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 478.

In the case sub judice, examining the totality of the circumstances, Petitioner was not subjected to custodial interrogation at the law enforcement center. On June 2, Petitioner was asked to come speak with law enforcement as police were interviewing everyone associated with the case. Petitioner agreed. He was offered the option of riding with someone else or riding with officers, and he volunteered to ride with officers. Petitioner asked about a ride home afterward, and Wilson promised a return ride home as well. (R. p. 551.) Wilson was not tasked with arresting Petitioner or taking him into custody. At the time of the interview, Petitioner was as much a witness as a potential suspect. (R. pp. 63-64.) Petitioner was expressly advised that the purpose of the interview was to get more information, “that it was just another questioning.” (R. p. 50; p. 422.) Petitioner was at no point threatened with arrest nor were references made to consequences if he was not forthright. During the interview, Petitioner initially repeated his original version of events to officers. There is no evidence

that officers challenged him during this rendition.

Even when officers informed him of Sprouse's most recent statement, there is no evidence that officers did so in a manner so as to suggest disbelief in Petitioner's version of events. Miller's question asking whether Petitioner was telling the truth about being in the room could just as easily elicited a response that Petitioner saw Sprouse do something to the child. This question is indicative that Petitioner was being treated as a witness – merely asking Petitioner if he was present in no way implicates a belief that he was a criminal actor. However, Petitioner leaned over in his chair and started sobbing. Petitioner then stated that “accidents happen sometimes.” (R. p. 427.) Investigator Miller said, “tell me what you're talking about.” (R. p. 427.) At this point Petitioner gave Investigator Miller a lengthy account of the events leading up to Victim's death and his role in it. Petitioner's incriminating statement was given, not in response to an interrogation, but as a voluntary statement to police when clarifying the events of the day and what happened to Victim. There is no evidence that officers engaged in complete and detailed questions regarding the incriminating information before providing *Miranda* warnings. The only testimony is that Miller asked Petitioner to “tell [him] more what [he's] talking about” (which appears to have led to Petitioner rendering a narrative) and asked for a demonstration of how Petitioner covered Victim's mouth before halting the interview and reading *Miranda* rights. (R. pp. 427-428.) Petitioner volunteered his statement to police, which is not barred by the Fifth Amendment.

Petitioner was not handcuffed or restrained in any way. Petitioner could have ceased the interview with police at any time. Miller testified that Petitioner elected to talk to police freely and voluntarily. Seeing as Petitioner was free to go and volunteered to answer police questions to aid in the investigation, it is clear that Petitioner was not in custody.

Petitioner points to the solicitor's questioning of Wilson about "two phases" of the interview as damning evidence that a Seibert two-phase tactic was employed. (R. pp. 554-555.) The "two phases" referred to by Wilson were (1) the portion of the interview where the Petitioner maintained his innocence and (2) the portion of the interview where Petitioner gave an inculpatory statement. In contrast, the two phase tactic deplored in *Seibert* involves inculpatory statements in both phases – an unwarned inculpatory statement followed by a warned inculpatory statement.

Moreover, the circumstances of June 2 closely mirror those of May 25, a circumstance Petitioner does not argue to be an unconstitutional encounter. In both encounters, Petitioner was picked up from his location by law enforcement and transported to the law enforcement center. No one accompanied Petitioner on either occasion. On both occasions, Petitioner spoke to Miller in the same office for the same amount of time, about an hour and a half. Miller described the June 2 interview as "pretty much the same conversation [as before]." (R. p. 425.) On May 25, Petitioner was given a ride back to the hospital. Based on his own prior experience, it would seem that Petitioner would have no reason to believe he was in custody. *See State v. Jones*, 153 N.C. App. 358, 570 S.E.2d 128 (2002)(facts supporting finding 16 year-old boy with mild mental retardation was not in custody included that he voluntarily accompanied police, was interviewed in a comfortable office, was not restrained in any way, and had been interviewed four days before and allowed to leave).

Petitioner would liken his case to *Evans*, 354 S.C. 579. In *Evans*, after an extensive three-hour unwarned interview in which agents repeatedly told Evans they did not believe her various explanations, Evans was reduced to sobbing, asking agents "'to get her some help.'" *Id.* At that point agents "determined that the interview was bearing fruit" and decided to have another agent, a female, come in to talk to Evans. *Id.* at 582. The agent then interviewed Evans for an additional forty-five

minutes to an hour, sympathizing with Evans on topics such as “female problems,” her deceased mother, and religion. *Id.* at 581-582. Evans was escorted to the restroom by the female agent twice. Evans finally told the female agent that she started the fire in her home, at which point the original interviewing agents returned to the room, and Evans repeated the statement three more times before it was written on a “voluntary statement form.” *Id.* at 582. Evans’ cousin’s three requests to see Evans during the interview were denied. *Id.*

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